# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# CASE NO. SC06-1597

## ERIC MARTINEZ,

Petitioner,

-VS-

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

ROBERT GODFREY Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0162795

Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, Eric Martinez, was the appellant in the district court of appeal and the defendant in the circuit court. Respondent, State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court of appeal and the prosecution in the circuit court. In this brief, the designation "R." refers to the record of appeal from the district court of appeal, the designation "T." refers to the transcript of the trial proceedings, and the designation "A." refers to the attached appendix, which contains a conformed copy of the decision of the lower court. Unless otherwise noted, all emphasis is supplied.

#### POINT ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court committed fundamental error by instructing the jury on the forcible felony exception to the use of force in self-defense where the defendant was only charged with one forcible felony, he presented evidence sufficient to send the issue of self-defense to the jury, but the instruction negated the defense of self-defense, thus making it easier for the State to obtain a conviction and denying Mr. Martinez his constitutional right to present a complete defense.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Martinez was charged by information with one count of attempted first degree murder with a deadly weapon. The count also alleged that he committed

aggravated battery during the course of the attempted murder. (R. 4-6). There was not a separate charge of aggravated battery. The alleged victim was Rubentania Rijo, Mr. Martinez's girlfriend. Both Mr. Martinez and Ms. Rijo testified at trial.

There was no dispute that Mr. Martinez had stabbed Ms. Rijo several times. The issue for the jury, as defense counsel urged in opening statement, was how much responsibility would be placed on Mr. Martinez. The defense position was that the State's case, at most, would show an aggravated battery, while the "best case scenario is that you find him, not guilty because his reaction was only in selfdefense. He will tell you that she stabbed him first, with the scissors. At that point, it escalated." (T. 135-36).<sup>1</sup>

Ms. Rijo testified that she lived with Mr. Martinez as husband and wife. They resided in the house owned by her mother and step-father and had been together about seven months as of August 11, 2003. (T. 145-46, 165, 168, 174). On that night, both she and Mr. Martinez had several drinks at the restaurant/bar where she worked. (T. 174-75). When they arrived home, they began arguing because Ms. Rijo thought Mr. Martinez was too possessive. Ms. Rijo told Mr. Martinez she was going to separate from him. (T. 153, 172). According to Ms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The opinion below omits this part of defense counsel's opening statement. (A. 29-30). The opinion below also confusingly talks about how self-defense was not "the defense to this case" that was presented **during voir dire**. (A. 28-29). Voir dire, of course, is part of jury selection and not the time or place to argue defenses.

Rijo, Mr. Martinez then went into the bathroom. When he came out, he was crying. The only light in the room came from the television. Mr. Martinez turned the television off and came towards the bed, kneeling down and asking Ms. Rijo not to separate. (T. 154-55, 173). She told him she was leaving, but for him to come to bed and lie down. (T. 155-56). In response, Ms. Rijo testified, he grabbed her by the neck and began choking her. She then felt herself being cut. (T. 156-57). She denied stabbing Mr. Martinez first. (T. 175-76). Ms. Rijo sustained numerous lacerations and puncture wounds. (T. 179-81, 194-98).

Mr. Martinez testified that he had been drinking that night and was drunk by the time he and Ms. Rijo left her place of work. (T. 224-25). Ms. Rijo was arguing with him as they went home, and the argument continued at home. She wanted to know why he had come to her workplace. She initially said she wanted to leave, but then said they would talk about it the next day. (T. 226-27). He lay down and was about to fall asleep when Ms. Rijo came at him with a pair of scissors and he had to defend himself. (T. 228, 244). She went crazy and he was fighting for his life. (T. 248). Mr. Martinez testified that Ms. Rijo "jumped at me. I was fighting for my life." (T. 248). He did not have time to escape. "If I would have time to go outside, I would have, but we went crazy. She was jumping at me. I was also fighting for my life." (T. 228). They struggled and fell and rolled all over. Both were drunk. (T. 228). The alcohol caused the fight to escalate out of control. (T. 231). He never intended to stab or hurt Ms. Rijo. (T. 228). Mr.

Martinez insisted it was "a lie" that he stabbed Ms. Rijo repeatedly, saying again

that she attacked him first. (T. 240, 241). He did not know what injuries she

suffered because it was dark in the room while they were struggling. (T. 241).

As part of his closing statement, defense counsel urged the jury to remember

Ms. Rijo's demeanor while testifying, and argued the following:

You may believe that he acted in self-defense. She started the process. Remember, it took her a very, very long time to answer. She even refused to answer for at least two or three minutes. The question, did you stab Eric first? And she refused to answer it, which suggests to me that she probably did start the process, because she was the one who was angry?

Because, after all, how many times had she told him, I don't want you coming to my place of work. It effects my ability. I mean, after all, she's there. She's trying to hustle drinks. And she's got him standing there, sitting there watching, very uncomfortable for her.

She was unhappy. She was angry. So, it's very likely that she started the process. That she started the process by stabbing him and suddenly things escalated beyond the wildest dreams of anybody.

(T. 289).

The jury was instructed on self-defense as follows:

An issue in this case is whether the defendant acted in selfdefense. It is a defense to the offense with which Eric Martinez is charged if the injury to Rubentania Rijo resulted from the justifiable use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm.

The use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm is justifiable only if the defendant reasonably believes that the force is necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm to himself while resisting:

1. another's attempt to murder him, or

2. any attempt to commit Aggravated Battery upon him, or

3. any attempt to commit Attempted murder in any dwelling house occupied by him.

A person is justified in using force likely to cause death or great bodily harm if he reasonably believes that such force is necessary to prevent:

1. imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or another, or

2. the imminent commission of Attempted Murder and/or Aggravated Battery against himself or another.

However, the use of force likely to cause death or great bodily harm is not justifiable if you find:

**1. Eric Martinez was attempting to commit, committing** or escaping after the commission of Attempted Murder and/or **Aggravated Battery**; or

2. Eric Martinez initially provoked the use of force against himself . . .

(T. 341-42). The emphasized language concerning aggravated battery was added

at the request of the prosecutor during the conference on jury instructions, with

defense counsel agreeing to the change. (T. 265). There was no objection to the

instruction as read to the jury. (T. 354, A. 2).

The jury found Mr. Martinez guilty as charged, making a specific finding

that an aggravated battery was committed during the course of the attempted murder. (R. 18).

On appeal, the Third District acknowledged that Mr. Martinez raised the issue of self-defense when he testified. (A. 39). As self-defense was a defense offered at trial, the Third District also agreed that Mr. Martinez was entitled to a self-defense instruction. (A. 45). The lower court further agreed that the

instruction as given, absent an independent forcible felony, was error. (A. 3). The court, however, declined to find that it was fundamental error because self-defense was not the sole defense, was not even the primary theory advanced by trial counsel, and was against the weight of the evidence. (A. 5, 27-46). The opinion also stated in passing that self-defense was legally untenable given the jury's finding of attempted premeditated murder. (A. 46).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The instruction given on justifiable use of deadly force was erroneous as Mr. Martinez was only charged with one forcible felony. All courts that have considered this issue, including the decision below, have concluded that the instruction as given is error because it is circular in logic and negates the defense of self-defense.

The error here was fundamental. Every court which has considered this issue, except for the decision below, has concluded that the instructional error is fundamental. Once a defendant introduces a prima facie case of self-defense, it becomes a jury issue and the State's burden is to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Self-defense is thus an element that the jury must consider in reaching its verdict, and the strength of the self-defense claim is for the jury alone, not an appellate court, to decide. By negating the defense of self-defense, the instructional error here made it easier for the State to obtain a conviction,

regardless of whether self-defense was the only defense, the primary defense, or just one of multiple defenses. By depriving Mr. Martinez of the defense of selfdefense, the instructional error also impeded his due process right to present a **complete** defense. That the conviction was for attempted premeditated murder does not change the analysis as there are many instances where an intentional killing may be a valid act of self-defense.

As the instruction below was not objected to, review is for fundamental error.

## ARGUMENT

# WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS CHARGED WITH ATTEMPTED MURDER AND NO INDEPENDENT FORCIBLE FELONY, THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE FORCIBLE FELONY EXCEPTION TO SELF-DEFENSE, THUS IMPROPERLY NEGATING THE DEFENSE OF SELF-DEFENSE

Mr. Martinez was charged with just one crime, attempted first degree murder. The information also alleged that he committed an aggravated battery during the court of the attempted murder.

The disputed factual issue at trial was what went on in the bedroom between

Ms. Rijo and Mr. Martinez. They both testified, but presented starkly differing

stories as to who and what started the altercation. Mr. Martinez's defense,

presented through his testimony, was that he was about to fall asleep when she

jumped him, using scissors to try to stab him. He was unable to escape and had to fight for his life in the dark room.

The jury instruction given totally deprived Mr. Martinez of the defense of self-defense, the only complete defense to the crime with which he was charged.<sup>2</sup> The instruction improperly told the jury that the very act which Mr. Martinez sought to justify – aggravated battery – itself precluded a finding of justification. Indeed, the jury did make a specific finding that Mr. Martinez committed an aggravated battery in the course of attempting first degree murder. (R. 18). Having found that Mr. Martinez had committed an aggravated battery, the jury was precluded by the instruction from finding that he had acted in self-defense.<sup>3</sup>

Defense counsel did not object to the instruction given. (A. 2). Reversal is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The decision below asserts that Mr. Martinez's "<u>primary</u> theory of defense was intoxication." (A. 27, 45, 46) (emphasis in original). In fact, it was no defense at all. The jury was instructed that voluntary intoxication "**is not a defense to any offense proscribed by law, including attempted premeditated murder and aggravated battery.**" (T. 332, 345). The other alternative defenses argued, lack of premeditation and lack of intent to kill (A. 27, 46), would serve only to reduce the charge to something other than attempted first degree murder.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The opinion below discusses and relies upon *Sochor v. State*, 619 So. 2d 285 (Fla. 1993) (A. 8-9), but that case is inapposite as it involved the **failure** to instruct on an affirmative defense which "the state did not have to disprove." *Id.* at 290. Similarly, the cases of *Smith v. State*, 521 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1988), and *Holiday v. State*, 753 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 2000) (A. 14), are inapposite as those cases involved an erroneous shifting of the burden of proof, not the total deprivation of a defense, like here. Finally, *Cardenas v. State*, 867 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 2004) (discussed at A. 9-12), was decided based on "the unique nature of the DUI statutory scheme," *id.* at 391, and likewise did not involve the deprivation of any defense.

required, then, only if the error was fundamental. For an instructional error to be fundamental,

the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. In other words, fundamental error occurs only when the omission is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict. Thus, for error to meet this standard, it must follow that the error prejudiced the defendant.

*Reed v. State*, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

Every other court that has considered the same instruction has found it to be fundamental error. *McJimsey v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly D 1644, 2007 WL 1931355 (Fla. 4th DCA July 5, 2007); *Johnson v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly D1169, 2007 WL 1261438 (Fla. 3d DCA May 2, 2007); *Blanton v. State*, 956 So. 2d 480 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007); *Flynn v. State*, 947 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); *Slattery v. State*, 32 Fla. L. Weekly D305, 2007 WL 186947 (Fla. 5th DCA January 26, 2007); *Wilson v. State*, 944 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *Ortiz v. State*, 942 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *Zinnerman v. State*, 942 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); *Barton v. State*, 941 So. 2d 1291 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); *Williams v. State*, 937 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); *Jackson v. State*, 935 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); *Smith v. State*, 933 So. 2d 1275 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *York v. State*, 932 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); *Bertke v. State*, 927 So. 2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); Grier v. State, 928 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); Humbert v. State, 922 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); Swanson v. State, 921 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); Granberry v. State, 919 So. 2d 699 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); Houston v. State, 919 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Newcomb v. State, 913 So. 2d 1293 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Brown v. State, 909 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); *Federic v. State*, 909 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *Bevan v. State*, 908 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Craven v. State, 908 So. 2d 523 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Ortiz v. State, 905 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Fair v. State, 902 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *Estevez v. State*, 901 So. 2d 989 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); *Hardy* v. State, 901 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Williams v. State, 901 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Ruiz v. State, 900 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); York v. State, 891 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Carter v. State, 889 So. 2d 937 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); *Cleveland v. State*, 887 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); Velazquez v. State, 884 So. 2d 377 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Bates v. State, 883 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); *Dunnaway v. State*, 883 So. 2d 876 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); Baker v. State, 877 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Zuniga v. State, 869 So. 2d 1239, 1240 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004) ("The self-defense instruction can be likened to an element of the offense for its importance to the defendant."); Rich v. State, 858 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); Fair v. Crosby, 858 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); Estevez v. Crosby, 858 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). "As has been

pointed out in all of the cited cases, unless a separate felony is involved, the forcible felony instruction is circular in its logic and negates the defense of self-defense." *Blanton*, 956 So. 2d at 482.<sup>4</sup>

The decision below stands in lonely contrast to the cases cited above, all of which found the instruction to be fundamental error. Until this case, the only time this instruction was not found to be fundamental error was when self-defense was totally unsupported by the evidence such that a jury question was not presented. *See Sutton v. State*, 929 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) ("the jury instruction that was given does not constitute fundamental error if the evidence adduced at trial does not support a self-defense instruction"); *Hickson v. State*, 917 So. 2d 939 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) and *Hickson v. State*, 873 So. 2d 474 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004); *Thomas v. State*, 918 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). That is not the case here, as the decision below correctly found that sufficient evidence was presented to send the question of self-defense to the jury. (A. 45; T. 228, 240, 241, 248).

The decision below does not cite to any case where evidence of self-defense was presented but the instructional error at issue was found to not be fundamental

<sup>4</sup> The standard jury instructions on justifiable use of deadly force and non-deadly force have recently been amended to include a direction that the forcible felony exception instruction is to be given only if the defendant is charged with more than one forcible felony. *See In re: Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases* (2005-4), 930 So. 2d 612, 614 (Fla. 2006); *In re: Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases* (2006-3), 947 So. 2d 1159, 1162 (Fla. 2007).

error because of the existence of other defenses. In fact, no court that has considered this issue has adopted the fundamental error analysis put forward by the panel majority. *See Flynn*, 947 So. 2d at 1230 (calling Third District's opinion "a lengthy and somewhat novel discussion regarding the application of fundamental error analysis to the forcible felony exception instruction" and "declin[ing] to decide whether we agree with the fundamental error analysis employed in *Martinez*"); *Williams*, 937 So. 2d at 774 ("we need not decide whether we agree with all of the *Martinez* majority's discussion regarding fundamental error"); *Smith v. State*, 933 So. 2d at 1277 ("we do not need to decide whether we agree with all of the discussion presented in *Martinez* regarding fundamental error").

The lower court erred in holding that fundamental error occurs only when self-defense is the sole defense. A defendant "has a **fundamental right** . . . to have the jury **properly** instructed on **any** legal defense supported by the evidence." *Miller v. State*, 712 So. 2d 451, 453 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (emphasis added). If a legal defense is supported by the evidence, then it necessarily must be considered by the jury. Fundamental error occurs when an omission is pertinent or material to what a jury must consider in order to convict. *Battle v. State*, 911 So. 2d 85, 89 (Fla. 2005). "A misleading instruction to a jury as to the law concerning a legal defense is fundamental error where it makes a conviction easier for the state." *Hardy*, 901 So. 2d at 986 (citing to *Reed*, 837 So. 2d at 369).

While self-defense is an affirmative defense, the burden on defendant is only to produce sufficient evidence to present a jury question, as was done here.<sup>5</sup> Once any evidence of self-defense is presented, it becomes the State's burden to disprove self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. See Rasley, 878 So. 2d 473, 476 (1st DCA 2004) ("The state is required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense."); Fowler v. State, 921 So. 2d 708, 711 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) ("when the defendant presents a prima facie case of self-defense, the State's burden includes proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did not act in self-defense") (quotation marks omitted); Sneed v. State, 580 So. 2d 169, 170 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) ("The state must disprove, beyond a reasonable doubt, a defense of self-defense."); S.D.G. v. State, 919 So. 2d 704, 705 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) ("Once Appellant produced evidence supporting her claim of selfdefense, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant's actions were not taken in self-defense to sustain a finding of guilt."). The issue of self-defense, then, was one that a properly instructed jury would necessarily have had to consider when reaching a verdict. Thus, regardless of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In contrast, with the affirmative defense of insanity, "defendant has the burden of proving the defense of insanity by clear and convincing evidence," and with the affirmative defense of entrapment, "the defendant must prove . . . by the greater weight of the evidence that a law enforcement officer or agent induced or encouraged the crime charged." Fla. Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 3.6(a) and 3.6(j).

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