IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC MARTINEZ,

Petitioner,

v. CASE NO. SC06-1597

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

KRISTEN L. DAVENPORT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #909130

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

As an additional example, the State asks this Court to consider a scenario more closely analogous to the instant case. Suppose a defendant is upset with his girlfriend, so he decides to kill her and begins choking her and cutting her. At this point, the girlfriend grabs a pair of scissors and cuts the defendant's pinky finger. The defendant takes the scissors away and stabs

the girlfriend again.

At his subsequent trial, assuming the jury believes this version of events, the defendant could not successfully claim self defense for the stabbing of his girlfriend. While ordinarily the girlfriend's action of stabbing the defendant would justify the defendant's use of force to repel this attack, the Legislature has determined that a defendant who is committing a forcible felony (in this example, attempted murder) is not entitled to use deadly force in self defense.

The key in both scenarios is when the alleged justification Τf it arose after the defendant was committing a crime(or, of course, attempting to commit a crime, or escaping from the commission of a crime), he cannot validly act self defense. On the other hand, if the justification arose before he committed the crime - if, for instance, defendant in the first example was merely engaging the clerk innocent conversation, not committing a robbery, when in the customer hit him with the bottle, then this exception would not apply and he would be justified in using force.2 the very title of this section - "use of force by aggressor" illustrates the purpose of its limitation.

 $^{^2}$ Of course, numerous additional considerations come into play as well, including whether the defendant withdraws from the situation, the appearance of danger, and the possibility of retreating. (T. 341-45).

The standard jury instruction, given in this case, tracks the language of the statute as it explains the various justifications and exceptions for self defense, including the forcible felony exception. (T. 341-45). Contrary to the holding of the lower court, and numerous other district courts, the instruction in this case accurately and properly explained the law of self defense. See Marshall v. State, 604 So. 2d 799, 803 (Fla. 1992) (plain language of section 776.041 provides that self defense is legally unavailable to person committing forcible felony), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 915 (1993); Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991) (following plain language of statute, determining 776.041 exception not applicable to cocaine trafficking, which was not listed as a forcible felony).

DISTRICT COURT CASE LAW

Problems with the standard jury instruction discussed above began with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in Giles v. State, 831 So. 2d 1263 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). There, the defendant objected to the standard instruction at trial. Id. at 1264. On appeal, the court determined this objection was well-founded, reasoning that the forcible felony exception only applies when the accused was engaged in a separate forcible felonious act at the time of the charged crime. Id. at 1266. In

other words, the court concluded that the exception applied **only** in the convenience store robbery scenario discussed above. Applying the exception to the fight with the girlfriend scenario, the court concluded, was circular, confusing to the jury, and basically negated the defense. <u>Id.</u>

Shortly thereafter, the same court expanded its holding in Giles, concluding that this error was fundamental and need not even be brought to the attention of the trial court to mandate reversal on appeal. See Rich v. State, 858 So. 2d 1210 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2003). The other district courts quickly fell in line with this case law, following Giles and Rich with little additional discussion or reasoning in support. See, e.g., Grier v. State, 928 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006), rev. denied, 952 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 2007); Cleveland v. State, 887 So. 2d 362 (Fla. 5^{th} DCA 2004); <u>Zuniga v. State</u>, 869 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004); Barnes v. State, 868 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). Indeed, the district courts have gone on to find ineffective assistance of appellate counsel for failing to raise this standard jury instruction as fundamental error. See, e.g., Granberry v. State, 919 So. 2d 699 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); Davis v. State, 886 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), rev. denied, 898 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 2005); Fair v. Crosby, 858 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2003).

The State submits that the district courts have improperly ignored the plain language of section 776.041. Nothing in this statute in any way limits its applicability to cases where the defendant engages in some <u>additional</u> and <u>independent</u> felonious act,

and the cases creating such a limitation should be disapproved of by this Court.³

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

Even if the jury instruction was somehow misleading, the district court properly concluded that this error was not fundamental here. Moreover, the State submits that this error cannot be fundamental, under this Court's precedent.

In general, an objection must be raised at trial to preserve an issue for appeal. This requirement "is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of the judicial system." City of Orlando v. Birmingham, 539 So. 2d 1133, 1134 (Fla. 1989). Without an objection, the trial judge has no opportunity to rule upon a point of law and to correct any error at an early stage of the proceedings. Id. at 1134-35.4

This Court has stated repeatedly that jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule. See, e.g., Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17, 20 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 876 (1996). Accordingly, instructions are reviewable in the absence of an objection only if the error "is pertinent or material to what the jury must consider in order to convict." Cardenas v. State, 867 So. 2d 384, 390-91 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Reed v. State, 837 So. 2d 366, 370 (Fla. 2002)).

³Indeed, this "independent" forcible felony requirement has been applied in such an odd manner that even cases involving multiple felonies have been reversed based on the court giving the standard instruction. See Houston v. State, 919 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Shepard v. Crosby, 916 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), rev. denied, 930 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 2006); Bates v. State, 883 So. 2d 907 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). One is left to wonder how this instruction can ever be properly given.

Where, then, the error is relevant to a contested element of the charged offense, the error is fundamental. See, e.g., Reed, 837 So. 2d at 369 (incorrect definition of malice, an essential element of offense, disputed at trial, was fundamental error). On the other hand, where the error relates even to an element of the crime, but that element is not in dispute, the error is not fundamental and an objection must be lodged to preserve the issue for appeal. Battle v. State, 911 So. 2d 85, 88-89 (Fla. 2005), cert. denied, 546 U.S. 1111 (2006); State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991). See also State v. Weaver, 957 So. 2d 586, 588-89 (Fla. 2007) (no fundamental error in instructing on alternative uncharged manner of committing battery where State never argued this element was present and presented no evidence on it); Cardenas, 867 So. 2d at 392-93 (no fundamental error where improper instruction on presumption of impairment neither omitted nor misdefined an essential element of crime); Wuornos v.

State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 (Fla. 1994) (no fundamental error
in defining aggravating factor in a constitutionally
inadequate manner), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1070 (1995);

Here, for example, the trial court went to great lengths to ensure that each jury instruction was considered and agreed upon by the parties. (T. 256-69, 272-74, 332-33). The Defendant agreed to the forcible felony instruction as worded here. (T. 263-65). Cf. Swanson v. State, 921 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) (reversing conviction where defense counsel not only did not object to forcible felony instruction, but actually affirmatively sought the erroneous instruction at trial); Crumbley v. State, 876 So. 2d 599, 601 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (contemporaneous objection rule prevents litigant from allowing an error to go unchallenged so it may be used as tactical advantage later).

<u>State v. Smith</u>, 573 So. 2d 306, 310 (Fla. 1990) (no fundamental error in failing to give long form instruction on excusable homicide even where there was evidence to support that defense).

This Court has been appropriately reluctant to expand the application of the fundamental error doctrine to errors in instructing the jury. Most relevant to the case at bar, this Court has refused to expand this doctrine when the alleged error involved an affirmative defense to a crime, rather than an element of the crime.

For example, this Court rejected a defense argument that the failure to instruct on voluntary intoxication as a defense to felony murder constituted fundamental error, reasoning as follows:

Failure to give an instruction unnecessary to prove an essential element of the crime charged is not fundamental error. Voluntary intoxication is a defense to, but not an essential element of, [the charged crime.] Therefore, the state did not have to disprove voluntary intoxication in order to convict. ... Because the complained of instruction went to [the defendant's] defense and not to an essential element of the crime charged, an objection was necessary to preserve this issue on appeal.

<u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285, 290 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 510 U.S. 1025 (1993).

This Court applied similar reasoning in considering an erroneous instruction on the affirmative defense of entrapment.

Holiday v. State, 753 So. 2d 1264, 1269 (Fla. 2000). Though the erroneous instruction failed to accurately reflect the burden of

proof on this defense, it was not so flawed as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, and accordingly was not deemed to be fundamental error. <u>Id. See also Smith v. State</u>, 521 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1988) (erroneous instruction on affirmative defense of insanity did not constitute fundamental error).

This Court has defined the characteristics of an affirmative defense as follows:

An "affirmative defense" is any defense that assumes the complaint or charges to be correct but raises other facts that, if true, would establish a valid excuse or justification or a right to engage in the conduct in question. An affirmative defense does not concern itself with the elements of the offense at all; it concedes them. In effect, an affirmative defense says, "Yes, I did it, but I had a good reason."

State v. Cohen, 568 So. 2d 49, 51-52 (Fla. 1990).

Clearly, under this definition self defense is a classic affirmative defense. Accordingly, an erroneous instruction on this issue must be brought to the attention of the trial court to be preserved for appeal. See Bridges v. State, 878 So. 2d 483, 484 (Fla. 4th DCA) (following Sochor, Holiday, and Smith, the failure to instruct on justifiable use of non-deadly force could not be raised for first time on appeal), rev. denied, 890 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 2004); Goode v. State, 856 So. 2d 1101, 1102 n.1 (Fla.1st DCA 2003) (same).

This Court has consistently held that an error in instructing the jury on an affirmative defense is not fundamental and must be preserved below. The instant case falls squarely under those holdings, and the fundamental error doctrine should

not be applied under these circumstances. 6
THE ALLEGED Error HAD NO Effect on the Trial

Finally, even if the alleged error at issue here could be fundamentally erroneous under some circumstances, the district court properly concluded that it was not fundamental in the instant case. As this Court noted in Holiday, 753 So. 2d at 1270 n.3, relief is not appropriate where the defense was "tenuous at best and the facts do not present a compelling demand for relief." The same is true for the self defense claim advanced here.

 $^{^5\}mathrm{That}$ the State bears the ultimate burden to prove that the crime was not committed in self defense makes this no less of an affirmative defense. Cf. Holiday, 753 So. 2d at 1267-68 (noting that affirmative defense of entrapment placed ultimate burden of proof on State to show beyond a reasonable doubt defendant's predisposition to commit the crime); Smith, 521 So. 2d at 107-08 (noting that at that time the affirmative defense of insanity placed ultimate burden of proof on State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant was sane).

⁶The State notes that this holding will not prejudice defendants whose trials were actually affirmatively harmed by an erroneous instruction on their defense, as those defendants would have a remedy for ineffective assistance of counsel under Rule 3.850.

Finding that an error in instructing the jury on an affirmative defense can be fundamental error in certain cases is quite different from a broad conclusion that, for example, the giving of a forcible felony jury instruction is fundamental error and per se reversible no matter the circumstances. As discussed above, however, the State submits that a more appropriate resolution of this issue would be a finding that an error in the instruction on the affirmative defense of self defense cannot be fundamental error and must be preserved by objection.

As discussed by the district court, there simply was no credible evidence to support the Defendant's theory of self-defense. The Defendant based this defense on his testimony that the victim instigated the altercation by coming at him with a scissors. (T. 228). He further testified that, contrary to the physical evidence (including pictures), he was actually cut three times and was taken to the doctor, where he should have received stitches for his injuries. (T. 243).

However, during his testimony he essentially admitted that he was clearly stronger than the victim and came out of the altercation in a much better condition than she did. (T. 249-1850). More importantly, he could not explain how the victim ended up with numerous wounds to her back, including a wound so deep that it penetrated her lung. (T. 252-53). Even he admitted that he could not claim he stabbed her in the back in self defense. (T. 252). The Defendant's own testimony, then, belies his selfdefense claim.

As the court below discussed in detail, the self defense claim was at best tangential here, and the main thrust of the defense was that this altercation was a mutual struggle and the victim's injuries accidental, the unfortunate product of immaturity, jealousy, and alcohol, rather than a premeditated design to kill. Martinez, 933 So. 2d at 1167-75. Cf. Sutton v. State, 929 So. 2d 1105, 1107 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (self defense not applicable where defendant stated that he fired gun because

he lost control of trigger and stumbled over stones), <u>receded</u>
<u>from on other grounds (sentencing)</u>, <u>Yisrael v. State</u>, 938 So.
2d546 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006).

Additionally, the State notes that the alleged error in the instruction did not relate to a significant factor, such as who had the burden of proof, but rather applied only to a single limited exception to the justifiable use of force. Contrary to the Defendant's argument, this did not completely deprive him of this defense, and the jury was specifically instructed that if it had a reasonable doubt as to whether the Defendant was justified in the use of deadly force it should find him not guilty. (T. 344-45).

This Court has recognized the necessity of considering facts οf in analyzing whether the actual а case is fundamental, noting that "[i]f the error was harmful, it would not meet our requirement for being fundamental." Reed, 837 So. 2d at 370.8 See also Sampson v. State, 903 So. 2d 1055, 1056-57 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (under Reed, defendant was required to show he was prejudiced by error before it would be considered to be fundamental); Roberson v. State, 841 So. 2d 490, 492 (Fla. 4th DCA) (noting that Reed applied a "non-categorical approach to erroneous jury instructions in criminal cases"), rev. denied, 848 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 2003).

 $^{^{8}}$ Indeed, if the alleged error had been preserved by objection below, a harmless error review would be appropriate. Certainly no <u>lesser</u> standard should be used for reversal where there is <u>no objection</u> below.

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